

# **REVIEW ARTICLE**

King Saud University

The Saudi Dental Journal

www.ksu.edu.sa www.sciencedirect.com



# Prevalence of orofacial clefts in Saudi Arabia and neighboring countries: A systematic review

Heba Jafar Sabbagh \*, Peter Anthony Mossey, Nicola P.T. Innes

Preventive Dental Sciences, King Abdulaziz University, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia

Received 19 July 2011; revised 30 September 2011; accepted 16 November 2011 Available online 2 December 2011

## KEYWORDS

KE I WORDS	<b>Abstract</b> Cleft lip and/or palate are among the most common birth defects in the world. The prev-
Prevalence;	alence of these conditions varies considerably across geographic areas and ethnic groups.
Saudi Arabia;	Objective: The aim of this study was to carry out a systematic review and appraisal of the literature
Cleft lip and palate;	on the prevalence of cleft lip and/or palate in Saudi Arabia and comparable Middle Eastern coun-
Orofacial cleft;	tries.
Epidemiology;	Materials and methods: All published articles on orofacial clefts (OFC) in Saudi Arabia and its bor-
Middle East	dering countries in the Middle East with similar and comparable population characteristics were reviewed in July 2010.
	<i>Results:</i> After reviewing the articles, only eight matched the inclusion criteria. Three studies were
	carried out in two regions in Saudi Arabia (Riyadh and Al-Qaseem). The other five studies were set
	in Dubai, Oman, and Jordan. The prevalence of cleft lip and/or palate reported in these studies var-
	ied greatly from 0.3 to 2.4 per 1000 live births. The birth prevalence of orofacial clefts in males was reported to be higher than in females. The isolated cleft palate prevalence was reported to be higher
	in females in most of the studies.
	<i>Conclusion:</i> The eightfold variation in the prevalence of orofacial clefts between highest and lowest
	prevalence is likely to be due, at least in part, to problems with ascertainment, but there may also be
	underlying genetic or environmental factors that require further investigation.
	© 2011 King Saud University. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Abstract Claft lin and/or ralate are among the most common high defacts in the world. The may

\* Corresponding author. Address: Dental School, Dundee University, UK. Tel.: +966 505668481.

E-mail address: Hjsabbagh@gmail.com (H.J. Sabbagh).

1013-9052  $\odot$  2011 King Saud University. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Peer review under responsibility of King Saud University. doi:10.1016/j.sdentj.2011.11.001

ELSEVIER

Production and hosting by Elsevier

### Contents

1.	Introduction	4
2.	Materials and methods	4
	2.1. Protocol for the literature search	4
	2.2. Inclusion and exclusion criteria for studies	5
	2.3. Data extraction	5
3.	Results	5
	3.1. Search strategy results	5
	3.2. Studies fitting the inclusion criteria	5
	3.3. Prevalence of OFC	5
	3.4. Characteristics of OFC	5
	3.5. Associated anomalies	5
	3.6. Consanguinity	7
	3.7. Positive family history of OFC.	7
4.	Discussion	7
	4.1. OFCs ascertainment: (see Table 3)	7
	4.2. Prevalence of syndromes and associated anomalies	9
	4.3. Consanguinity in families with cleft lip and palate	9
5.	Conclusions and recommendations	9
	References	9

#### 1. Introduction

Orofacial clefting (OFC) describes a spectrum of disorders from partial or complete fissuring of the upper lip, with or without fissuring of the palate [i.e., cleft lip and palate (CLP) or cleft lip (CL)] to fissuring of the palate alone [i.e., isolated cleft palate (CP)] (Mossey and Castilla, 2001). These features may present alone, as part of a syndrome, or along with other associated abnormalities (Mossey et al., 2009). Collectively, OFCs are known to be the most common craniofacial defects and one of the most common structural birth defects throughout the world (Christensen et al., 2004). The estimated overall global birth prevalence of OFC is one affected individual in every 700 newborn babies (World Health Organization, 2003). However, in spite of OFCs occurring in all races, the prevalence of individual OFC conditions vary considerably across geographic areas and ethnic groupings. For example, OFC more commonly occurs among Asian than African populations. It is important to understand the prevalence of craniofacial anomalies in every community to determine the size of the problem, the effort needed to improve the quality of life of these patients, and the efficacy of interventions. Even though efforts have been made to record the frequency of birth defects over the years, accurate epidemiological data do not exist for many countries (Mossey and Little, 2002).

In Saudi Arabia, nearly 355,000 children are born each year (Ministry of Health, 2008). There is a high rate of consanguineous marriage, which could be indicative of a high prevalence of congenital anomalies (Narchi and Kulaylat, 1997). However, there is currently no national register for OFC prevalence in Saudi Arabia. Therefore, a systematic review of the literature for the Saudi population was undertaken to search for information on the prevalence of OFC, which might give a clearer picture. The literature search was expanded to include studies carried out in other Middle Eastern countries with similar and comparable population characteristics to allow for comparisons and to provide context. Therefore, the aim of this study was to carry out a systematic review and appraisal of the literature on the prevalence of OFC in Saudi Arabia and comparable Middle Eastern countries.

#### 2. Materials and methods

#### 2.1. Protocol for the literature search

A protocol for the systematic assessment of the literature on the prevalence of OFC in Saudi Arabia and other Middle Eastern countries was developed. The Middle Eastern countries included were: Jordan, Syria, UAE, Qatar, Kuwait, Bahrain, Oman, and Yemen. All of these countries border Saudi Arabia. The populations of these countries are comparable to the Saudi population in terms of the following characteristics: ethnic group, religion, tradition, culture, high rate of consanguineous marriage, and high birth rate. Iraq was excluded because of the suspected high prevalence of teratogenic defects resulting from long-term conflict (Fathallah, 2007).

The literature search protocol that was formulated consisted of the following: keyword identification, development of a search strategy, selection of search engines, and definition of inclusion/exclusion criteria for identified studies. The search strategy consisted of combinations of three keyword groups: (1) prevalence, epidemiology; (2) orofacial cleft, cleft palate, cleft lip, craniofacial anomalies; and (3) Jeddah, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia, Middle East, Arabia, Jordan, Syria, United Arab Emirates, UAE, Qatar, Kuwait, Bahrain, Oman, and Yemen. The search engines used were PubMed and Scopus. In addition, certain keywords were used to search Google (from the year 1980 to 2010), the Saudi Dental Journal (SDJ), the Saudi Medical Journal (SMJ), Jordan Medical Journal, Syrian American Medical Journal, Avicenna Journal of Medicine, Syria Medical Journal, Kuwait Medical Journal, International Arab Journal, Oman Medical Journal, Yemeni Journal for Medical Sciences, Bahrain Medical Bulletin, Journal of Bahrain Medical Society, and Qatar Medical Journal. The searches

were performed in July 2010. All papers were obtained, websites were checked, and references for articles and websites were reviewed for other relevant articles and abstracts. The search did not exclude any languages. In cases where data were reported in more than one article, the data were only extracted once.

#### 2.2. Inclusion and exclusion criteria for studies

All papers were reviewed for studies meeting the following inclusion criteria:

- The study reported data on the prevalence of cleft lip and palate in Saudi Arabia or one of the countries in the Middle East listed above.
- If the prevalence of cleft lip and palate was not included in the paper, then sufficient information to calculate an approximate prevalence of OFC was required. For instance, the timing and methods used for data collection and the sample size were required to allow for an estimation of the denominator size of the base population.

The exclusion criteria for studies were the following:

- The prevalence of OFC was not reported and could not be estimated from the presented data.
- The article reported information on the prevalence of craniofacial anomalies as a whole, but did not specify the prevalence of OFC.
- The study did not present sufficient details on the materials and methods.

#### 2.3. Data extraction

Papers meeting the inclusion criteria were reviewed, and when available the following data were extracted independently and in duplicate by two of the authors (HS and NI):

- dates, geographic location, and design of the study;
- sample size, source of population, and nationalities;
- demographic data of the sample;
- prevalence of cleft lip and/or palate; and
- prevalence of cleft lip and/or palate according to sex, consanguineous marriage rate, the presence of positive family history, and the association of other deformities.

The prevalence of OFC from each study was recorded, and the mean was compared with global prevalence figures.

#### 3. Results

#### 3.1. Search strategy results

The search strategy produced the following results: 45 articles in PubMed, 13 articles in Scopus, 9 articles in the SDJ, and 3 articles in the SMJ. Google registered 97 hits. All articles were in English with most having an Arabic abstract.

After checking the references and excluding duplicated articles, there were 126 papers. The majority of the studies did not meet the inclusion criteria and were excluded because they only

described the characteristics and types of CL, CP, or CLP or discussed the prevalence of associated anomalies or diseases.

#### 3.2. Studies fitting the inclusion criteria

Only eight articles fulfilled the inclusion criteria. Three studies were carried out in Saudi Arabia in two regions; two articles (Al-Johar et al., 2008; Kumar et al., 1991) and one report (Al-Johar et al., 2009) were performed in Riyadh, and one article (Borkar, 1993) was performed in Al-Qaseem. The remaining five were carried out in the following Middle Eastern countries: UAE (Al-Talabani et al., 1998), Oman (Patel, 2007; Rajab and Thomas, 2001), and Jordan (Al-Omari and Al-Omari, 2004; Aqrabawi, 2008). One study (Al-Johar et al., 2008) and one report (Al-Johar et al., 2009) covered the same location and time span. These were set in the King Faisal Specialised Hospital and Research Centre (KFSHRC), which is a well established cleft center in Riyadh. Data from these studies were combined to provide a figure for prevalence. This figure was determined by taking the reported data for OFC in the year 2008 (Al-Johar et al., 2009) and comparing it with the total number of reported live births (almost 80,000 live births per year) in the same year in Riyadh (Ministry of Health, 2008).

#### 3.3. Prevalence of OFC

The prevalence figures for each study are shown in Table 1. The lowest prevalence of cleft lip and/or palate was 0.3 births per 1000 live births (Kumar et al., 1991; Al-Johar et al., 2009). Both studies with the lowest prevalence were carried out in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia. The highest prevalence was 2.4 per 1000 live births (Aqrabawi, 2008) in Jordan. The overall mean prevalence of OFC for all the studies was 1.25 per 1000 live births, which is close to the reported global prevalence of one in every 700 births (World Health Organization, 2003).

For the studies carried out in Saudi Arabia, the reported prevalence rates varied by almost a factor of 10, from 0.3 (Al-Johar et al., 2008, 2009) to 2.19 per 1000 live births (Borkar, 1993). Different strength and limitation points affected each study's ascertainment (see Table 3).

#### 3.4. Characteristics of OFC

All studies reported a higher prevalence of CLP than other types of clefts (Table 1). In children with unilateral clefts, the left-sided defects were more common than right-sided defects. The prevalence of OFC in males was reported to be higher than in females with ratios for all clefts ranging from 1.2:1 to 4:1 and the ratios of CLP ranging from 1:1 to 1.8:1. On the other hand, isolated CP incidence was reported to be higher in females with a ratio of 3:1 except for one study (Aqrabawi, 2008) in which all the CP cases reported were males.

#### 3.5. Associated anomalies

Six out of eight studies reported associated anomalies (Table 2). These associated anomalies had rates ranging from 12% (Borkar, 1993) to 58.4% (Rajab and Thomas, 2001). The most common associated anomaly reported was congenital heart disease (CHD), which was reported at rates of 29% (Borkar, 1993), 20% (Kumar et al., 1991), and 38.2% (Al-Johar et al.,

Reference	Site and country	Duration	Study design	Population (Dominator)	Sample size	Population characteristics	Male%	Prevalence	CLP%	% CL%	% CP%
Kumar et al. (1991)	Saudi Arabia		Retrospective	KKUH: 20,045 live births/6 years	6 newborn/6 years	Mainly Saudis	-	0.3/1000 live births	-	—	-
Al-Johar et al. (2008)Al-Johar et al. (2009)	KFSHRC <sup>b</sup> , Riyadh, Saudi Arabia	1999–2009	Retrospective	Saudi Arabia: 300,000 births/year Riyadh: 80,000 births/year	1319/11year86/year from SA19/year from Riyadh	95% Saudis	56	0.3/1000 live births	47.8	15.7	36.5
Borkar (1993)	KFSH <sup>c</sup> , Al- Qasseem, Saudi Arabia		1 year retrospective + 3 year prospective	Al-Qasseem: 62,557 live births/4 years (MOH birth registry statistics)	137	All Saudis	-	2.19/1000 live births	45	41	14
Al-Talabani et al. (1998)	Corniche Hospital Abu Dhabi, UAE	1992–1995	Prospective	Corniche Hospital: 24,233 live and still births/3 years	13	73% Arabs	-	0.5/1000 live and still births	-	-	-
Rajab and Thomas (2001)	Khoula Hospital, and all maternity sections in Oman	1989–1995	Retrospective	Oman: 375,000 births in all 2ry and 3ry level hospitals/7 years (80% of total population)	563	All Omanis	51	1.5/1000 live births	41	23	36
Patel (2007)	10 health institution with maternity facilities and includes two 2ry care hospital Dhahire, Oman	2003–2005	Retrospective	10,311	14	93% Omanis	-	1.5/1000 live and still births	35	21	43
Al-Omari and Al-Omari (2004)	KHMC <sup>d</sup> and Al- Bashir Hospital, Amman, Jordan	1991–2001	Retrospective	Jordan: 1548,106 births/11 years	2146	All Jordanians	54	1.39/1000 live births	48	30	22
Aqrabawi (2008)	4	Jan 2000-Jan 2005	Prospective	25,440 live births/ 5 years	60	All Jordanians	75	2.4/1000 live births	45	20	15

<sup>a</sup> King Khalid University Hospital.
 <sup>b</sup> King Faisal Specialised Hospital and Research Centre.
 <sup>c</sup> King Fahad Specialised Hospital.
 <sup>d</sup> King Hussein Royal Medical Centre.

Study	Associated anomalies (%)	% of Consanguinity	+ ve Family history for OFC	1st degree cousin
		All relatives	-	
Kumar et al. (1991)	13.4	6.7	6	26.8%
Al-Johar et al. (2008)Al-Johar et al. (2009)	29.5	54.4	53.3	28%
Borkar (1993)	12	42	-	-
Rajab and Thomas (2001)	58.4	-	45	23%
Al-Omari and Al-Omari (2004)	18	-	-	-
Aqrabawi (2008)	47	83	-	None

 Table 2
 Associated anomalies, consanguinity and positive family history for OFC, for included studies, where reported.

2008). The Jordanian study (Aqrabawi, 2008) reported that 47% of all cleft patients had CHD.

#### 3.6. Consanguinity

There were large differences in the reported consanguinity rates for parents of children with OFCs (Table 2). Five of the studies reported on sanguineous relationships. Four of them reported on consanguineous relationships with rates ranging from 6.7% (Kumar et al., 1991) to 83% (Aqrabawi, 2008). Marriages between first-degree cousins were reported in three studies in more than 80% of consanguineous cases with OFC (Kumar et al., 1991).

#### 3.7. Positive family history of OFC

The frequency of family history of OFC was reported in four studies, with rates of 23% (Rajab and Thomas, 2001), 26.8% (Kumar et al., 1991), 28% (Al-Johar et al., 2008), and 0% (Aq-rabawi, 2008).

#### 4. Discussion

Understanding the epidemiology of birth defects can provide a basis for further investigation into the etiology and pathogenesis of these developmental disorders. However, complete ascertainment of the prevalence of affected individuals is difficult, and it is influenced by a number of factors. Among the main factors that affect ascertainment are the following: whether sampling is population or hospital based, the type and number of information resources available, the timing of data collection (immediately after birth or after several weeks), and whether stillbirths are included in addition to live births (Mossey and Castilla, 2001).

#### 4.1. OFCs ascertainment: (see Table 3)

From this analysis of the literature on OFC in Saudi Arabia and its bordering countries, studies were only found for four countries (Oman, Jordan, UAE, and Saudi Arabia). In total, eight articles were published on the subject, of which three were from Saudi Arabia. The studies carried out in Saudi Arabia (Al-Johar et al., 2008; Borkar, 1993; Kumar et al., 1991) were confined to two cities (Riyadh and Al-Qaseem), with data being collected from one type of information source (hospital records). These studies did not include stillbirths. The records were from referral centers, not maternity hospitals, and the sites were not the only referral centers in these regions. Therefore, these data were likely under-ascertained, and this is the most probable explanation for the differences in the reported prevalence of OFC in Saudi Arabia, which varies by ten-fold (0.3–2.19 per 1000 live births). It is not possible to say to what extent variability in methodologies used for data collection or differences in environmental factors between these two cities contribute to the reported figures. Therefore, based on these studies the prevalence of OFC cannot be clearly determined.

An exemplary project initiating registration of OFC anomalies in Saudi Arabia was carried out in KFSHRC, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia. In this project, 1319 patients with OFC and other craniofacial anomalies were registered between 1999 and 2009. The prevalence calculated from this study was 0.3 clefts per 1000 live births. However, this figure may be an underestimate of the true prevalence, as KFSHRC is not the only tertiary center in Riyadh for cleft lip and palate management (Al-Johar et al.,2008, 2009). Similarly, this could account for the low prevalence in the other Riyadh study (Kumar et al., 1991).

In the study in Al-Qaseem (Borkar, 1993), there was a high prevalence of OFC (2.19/1000). This prevalence was calculated by comparing children born with OFC and referred to King Fahad Specialised Hospital (KFSH) with the total population of children born in the same period and in the same region using Ministry of Health (MOH) statistical records. The authors claimed that their study represented the population of Al-Qaseem because KFSH was the only tertiary center in this area, and all five peripheral hospitals followed a rigid control system of referral. There are a number of possible reasons for the high prevalence figure. There may have been an underestimation in the denominator population figure because KFSH is a referral center with no maternity hospital. There was no clear explanation of the methodology involving the subjects' age, so it is possible that older children were included in the sample. The multiple conflicts in neighboring regions (US Department of Defense, 1998) may have had teratogenic effects. Additionally, there was a high percentage of families from rural areas, which has been reported to increase the risk of OFC (Alsahafi, 2010). Accordingly, the validity of the reported prevalence is unclear.

Three studies, two from Oman (Patel, 2007; Rajab and Thomas, 2001) and one from Jordan (Al-Omari and Al-Omari, 2004), reported a prevalence of OFC consistent with the WHO global report of one in every 700 births (World Health Organization, 2003). Both Rajab and Thomas (2001) and Al-Omari and Al-Omari (2004) had a large sample compared to the other studies, with a long period of data collection, and these studies were carried out at the only referral centers in their countries. The ascertainment and calculation of denominator data should

	Strengths	Limitations <ul> <li>Hospital based</li> <li>Retrospective study</li> <li>It is a university hospital, not a maternity hospital nor the only referral centre in Riyadh that provides OFC treatment</li> <li>Cannot be generalized to the population,</li> <li>Data obtained from birth records (one source)</li> <li>Midline cleft was included in the study</li> <li>Small sample size</li> </ul>			
Kumar et al., 1991	• Data collected from patients seen in a University hospital. Therefore, stands by itself with a fair representation of the population				
Al-Johar et al., 2008 Al-Johar et al., 2009	<ul> <li>The only well documented registry in Saudi Arabia</li> <li>Data collected from patients seen in KFSH which is the major cleft center in Saudi Arabia</li> <li>Large total sample size (n = 1317)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Prevalence in living births only</li> <li>Hospital based</li> <li>Prevalence was estimated and not mentioned the article</li> <li>It is not the only referral center in Riyadh the provides OFC treatment nor is it a maternity hospital</li> <li>Heterogeneous sample from different regions. But, were mainly Saudis</li> <li>Prevalence was in living births only</li> </ul>			
Borkar 1993	<ul> <li>Data collected from patients seen in the only tertiary Ministry Of Health hospital in the area</li> <li>It is mainly a prospective study</li> <li>The sample and population are homogeneous representing the region</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Hospital based</li> <li>Not representative of the Saudi population as only set in one region of the country</li> <li>The age of patients included in the study was not mentioned</li> <li>The prevalence includes both syndromic and non-syndromic OFC</li> <li>Submucosal cleft was excluded.</li> </ul>			
Al-Talabani et al., 1998	<ul> <li>The only maternity hospital in the region where 98% of the births take place</li> <li>It is a Prospective study</li> <li>Includes all births (live and stillbirths)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>The prevalence was in living births only</li> <li>Heterogeneous sample, with different nationalities and culture</li> <li>Research objective involved assessing all majo congenital malformation in UAE and did not focus on CLP</li> </ul>			
Rajab and Thomas 2001	<ul> <li>Population based study</li> <li>Homogeneous sample with only Omanis</li> <li>Two sources of data collections were used to confirm the number of cases</li> <li>Large sample size (563)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Retrospective study</li> <li>The presence of home delivery in probably 20% of the cases</li> <li>It included both syndromic and non-syndromi OFC</li> </ul>			
<ul> <li>Patel 2007</li> <li>Population based study</li> <li>Included all health centers in the region</li> <li>Sample consists mainly of Omanis (96%) homogeneous</li> <li>Included all births (live and stillbirths)</li> </ul>		<ul> <li>The prevalence was in living births only</li> <li>Retrospective study</li> <li>The research objective involved assessing all major congenital malformation in Oman. Therefore, did not focus on CLP</li> </ul>			
Al-Omari and Al-Omari 2004	<ul> <li>Data from the only two cleft centers in the country</li> <li>Representative of the population</li> <li>Large sample size (n = 2146)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Retrospective study</li> <li>It included both syndromic and non-syndromi OFC</li> <li>Prevalence was in living births only</li> <li>Submucosal clefts were excluded</li> </ul>			
Aqrabawi 2008	<ul> <li>Prospective studyData collected from patients seen in the only maternity hospital in the city Amman</li> <li>The diagnosis of associated anomalies was standardized to all patients</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Hospital based</li> <li>Can not be generalized to the population</li> <li>small sample size</li> <li>It includes both syndromic and non-syndromic OFC</li> <li>Family history was not clear</li> <li>The prevalence was in living births</li> </ul>			

be less subject to error in these studies although it should be noted that their base population did not include stillbirths, which does cause some bias when comparing the prevalence reported in these studies to the WHO prevalence. However, this bias would probably be insignificant, since stillbirths account for 1% of births in Oman (Patel, 2007) and 1.8% of births in Saudi Arabia (Ministry of Health, 2008). In addition, Rajab and Thomas (2001) reported that, according to the Ministry of Health of Oman, 20% of cases were home delivery. If these home births were not included in the denominator, then this would lead to an overestimation of the OFC prevalence. Nevertheless, their result is supported by a similar regional study, which reported the same prevalence (Patel, 2007).

In Abu Dhabi, UAE, Al-Talabani et al. (1998) conducted a study in the only maternity hospital in the region. OFCs were recorded for both live and stillbirths. However, only 70% of this population was Arabs (Al-Talabani et al., 1998).

In Jordan, one study (Aqrabawi, 2008) reported a higher incidence of OFC (2.4/1000 live births) than the other (1.39/ 1000 live births) (Al-Omari and Al-Omari, 2004). The studies were carried out at the same hospital (KHMC), but the latter study had a larger sample size. Another peculiarity of the Aqrabawi study was that all CP cases were males, although all other studies report that CP occurs at a higher rate in females, in line with findings from other countries. Moreover, this study reported the highest prevalence of consanguinity (83%) in cases, but with no family history of CLP, which again contradicts the finding of other studies.

In the future, it might be possible to conduct a meta-analysis and explore factors associated with the variation of prevalence rates between studies. At present, the articles we found have insufficient numerical data for such an exercise to be meaningful.

#### 4.2. Prevalence of syndromes and associated anomalies

The reported prevalence of syndromes and associated abnormalities in these studies was unclear and lacked standardization. This lack of standardization could result from limited access to clinical geneticists immediately after the children were born, making it difficult to consistently record the exact diagnoses. Moreover, more minor anomalies could have been overlooked. Aqrabawi (2008) attempted to overcome this limitation by standardizing the methodology for diagnosis of all OFC cases born in the hospital by performing physical examination, 2D echocardiography, and renal ultrasound. While these data were classified according to whether they were associated with anomalies, the researcher did not record which results were syndromic.

Four of the studies reported associated anomalies in less than 30% of their OFC patients (Al-Johar et al., 2008; Al-Omari and Al-Omari, 2004; Borkar, 1993; Kumar et al., 1991). The Oman study reported the highest prevalence of associated anomalies, in 58.4% of all patients with OFC (Rajab and Thomas, 2001). This prevalence of associated anomalies is consistent with other investigations in different regions of the world that ranged from 21% to 63.4%, depending on the expertise, ascertainment, and definition of the associated anomalies (Mossey and Castilla, 2001; Shprintzen et al., 1985).

The most common associated anomaly reported was CHD. This association is supported by another study on congenital associated malformations in a sample of Jordanian patients with cleft lip and palate, which reported that 45.5% of the associated anomalies in OFC patients were CHDs (Rawashdeh and Abu-Hawas, 2008). This result is also consistent with other studies carried out in different parts of the world and the WHO global registry report (Milerad et al., 1997; Mossey and Castilla, 2001). On the other hand, the other Jordanian study (Aqrabawi, 2008) reported a higher rate of CHD among all cleft patients, which could be the result of using 2D-echocardiogram as a diagnostic aid for all newborn cleft patients.

Cleft palate was reported to have a higher prevalence of associated anomalies than other types of clefts. The prevalence rates of associated anomalies were 21.1% (Borkar, 1993) and 29.4% (Al-Bustan et al., 2002) in cleft palate cases, which is consistent with other reports in different parts of the world (Mossey et al., 2009; Rajab and Thomas, 2001; Rawashdeh and Abu-Hawas, 2008; Narchi and Kulaylat, 1997; Stoll et al., 2000).

#### 4.3. Consanguinity in families with cleft lip and palate

The types of consanguinity in Islamic and Arabian countries are first cousins, second cousins, double first cousins, or second cousins once removed. The prevalence of consanguineous marriages has been reported to be high (56%) in Saudi Arabia with approximately 60% of consanguineous marriages between first-degree cousins (El Mouzan et al., 2008; El-Hazmi et al., 1995). Some researchers have proposed consanguinity as a predisposing factor for OFC (Leitte and Koifman, 2009; Etahi et al., 2009). Therefore, it might be expected that there would be a high prevalence of OFC in the Saudi population. However, studies have reported the prevalence of OFC in children from consanguineous marriages to be lower than the general population (Alsahafi, 2010; Borkar, 1993; Kumar et al., 1991), which might indicate that consanguineous marriage alone is not a contributory factor to the prevalence of cleft lip and palate. Nevertheless, two of the studies reported a higher prevalence of first cousin consanguineous marriages within families with a history of cleft lip and palate than those reported in the general population. In these same studies, the presence of positive family history was reported in almost a quarter of the cleft patients (Al-Johar et al., 2008; Rajab and Thomas, 2001). This result is supported by Al-Bustan et al. (2002) who reported an insignificant, higher prevalence of positive family history in consanguineous marriages than in the general population (Al-Bustan et al., 2002). This report supports the claim that consanguineous parents with a family history of OFC have a higher chance of having children with OFC. Further investigations are needed to confirm these results.

#### 5. Conclusions and recommendations

From this systematic review of the literature, we were unable to determine the prevalence of OFC in Saudi Arabia with certainty. Three studies of OFC prevalence in Saudi Arabia were identified that had a high degree of variation. KFSHRC showed the best registration of OFC in the country. It is important to continue this work (Al-Johar et al., 2009) by establishing a national registry of anomalies in Saudi Arabia. In the future, the reasons for the variation in OFC prevalence must be elucidated through more rigorous investigations of the epidemiology, geographic distribution, and etiology of cleft lip and palate in the country as a whole and in every region of the country using a standardized and collaborative research strategy.

#### References

Al-bustan, S.A., El-zawahri, M.M., Al-adsani, A.M., Bang, R.L., Ghunaim, I., Maher, B.S., Weinberg, S., Marazita, M.L., 2002. Epidemiological and genetic study of 121 cases of oral clefts in Kuwait. Orthodontics and craniofacial Research 5, 154–160.

- Al-johar, A., Ravichandran, K., Subhani, S., 2008. Pattern of cleft lip and palate in hospital-based population in Saudi Arabia: retrospective study. Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Journal 45, 592–596.
- Al-johar, A., Ravichandran, K., sunbhani, S., Al-jarba, E., Almalaq, A., Essam, A.-S., 2009. Cleft lip palate and craniofacial anomalies registry Annual report 2009. Riyadh, Saudi Arabia, King Faisal Specialist Hospital and Research Centre.
- Al-omari, F., Al-omari, I.K., 2004. Cleft lip and palate in Jordan: birth prevalence rate. Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Journal 41, 609–612.
- Al-talabani, J.A., Shubbar, A.I., Mustafa, K.E., 1998. Major congenital malformations in United Arab Emirates (UAE): need for genetic counseling. Annals of Human Genetics 62, 411–418.
- Alsahafi, Y.A., 2010. The association between orofacial clefts and consanguinity in Saudi Arabia. The association between orofacial clefts and consanguinity in Saudi Arabia/By Yaser Abdulaziz Alsahafi. Boston, Boston University Libraries Medical Archive/ Medical Thesis.
- Aqrabawi, H.E., 2008. Facial cleft and associated anomalies: incidence among infants at a Jordanian medical centre. Eastern Mediterranean Health Journal 14, 356–359.
- Borkar, A.S., 1993. Epidemiology of facial clefts in the central province of Saudi Arabia. British Journal of Plastic Surgery 46, 673–675.
- Christensen, K., Juel, K., Herskind, A.M., Murray, J.C., 2004. Long term follow up study of survival associated with cleft lip and palate at birth. British Medical Journal 328, 1405–1406.
- El-hazmi, M.A.F., Al-swailem, A.R., Warsy, A.S., Al-swailem, A.M., Sulaimani, R., Al-meshari, A.A., 1995. Consanguinity among the Saudi Arabian population. Journal of Medical Genetics 32, 623– 626.
- El Mouzan, M.I., Al Salloum, A.A., Al Herbish, A.S., Qurachi, M.M., Alomar, A.A., 2008. Consanguinity and major genetic disorders in Saudi children: a community-based cross-sectional study. Annals of Saudi Medicine 28, 169–173.
- Etahi, M.M., Jackson, I.T., Elahi, O., Khan, A.H., Mubarak, F., Tariq, G.B., MITRA, A., 2009. Epidemiology of cleft lip and cleft palate in Pakistan. Plast Reconstr Surgery 113, 1548–1555.
- Fathallah, Z.F.E., 2007. Effects of socioeconomic factors on the incidence and pattern of oro-facial cleft. Basrah Journal of Surgery, 13.
- Kumar, P., Hussain, M.T., Cardoso, E., Hawary, M.B., Hassanain, J., 1991. Facial clefts in Saudi Arabia: an epidemiologic analysis in 179 patients. Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery 88, 955–958.

- Leitte, I.C., Koifman, S., 2009. Oral clefts, consanguinity, parental tobacco and alcohol use: a case-control study in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. Brazilian Oral Research 23, 31–37.
- Milerad, J., Larson, O., Hagberg, C., Ideberg, M., 1997. Associated malformations in infants with cleft lip and palate: a prospective, population-based study. Pediatrics 100, 180–186.
- Ministry of health:(2008) Statistical report of the Ministry of Health. Ministry of Health Statistical Book, The Ministry of Health, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia.
- Mossey, P., Castilla, E., 2001. Global registry and database on cranilfacial anomalies. in: Mossey, P., Castilla, E., (Eds.) Report of a WHO registry meeting on craniofacial anomalies. 2001 ed. Brazil, WHO.
- Mossey, P., Little, J., 2002. Epidemiology of oral clefts: an international perspective. Oxford University Press.
- Mossey, P.A., Little, J., Munger, R.G., Dixon, M.J., Shaw, W.C., 2009. Cleft lip and palate. The Lancet 374, 1773–1785.
- Narchi, H., Kulaylat, N., 1997. Congenital malformations: are they more prevalent in populations with a high incidence of consanguineous marriages? Anna of Saudi Medicine 17, 254–256.
- Patel, P.K., 2007. Profile of major congenital anomalies in the Dhahira region, Oman. Annals of Saudi Medicine 27, 106–111.
- Rajab, A., Thomas, C., 2001. Oral clefts in the Sultanate of Oman. European Journal of Plastic Surgery 24, 230–233.
- Rawashdeh, M.A.A., Abu-hawas, B.J., 2008. Congenital associated malformations in a sample of Jordanian patients with cleft lip and palate. Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery 66, 2035– 2041.
- Shprintzen, R. J., Siegel-sadewitz, V. L., Amato, J., B., G. R., Opitz, J. M., Reynolds, J. F., 1985. Anomalies associated with cleft lip, cleft palate, or both. American Journal of Medical Genetics. 20, 585–595.
- Stoll, C., Alembik, Y., Dott, B., Roth, M.P., 2000. Associated malformations in cases with oral clefts. Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Journal 37, 41–47.
- US department of defence: (1998) Depleted Uranium in the Gulf, Office of the special Assistant for Gulf illness. Environmental exposure report. US Department of Defense.
- World health organization: (2003) Global registry and database on craniofacial anomalies. in: organization, W.H. (Ed.) Report of a WHO Registry Meeting on Craniofacial Anomalies. Geneva, Switzerland, World Health Organization.